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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETS 

     
       Docket No.: 12-CV-10805-NMG 
 
 
DISCOUNT VIDEO CENTER, INC., 
 
 Plaintiff, 
 
 v. 
 
DOES 1-29, 
 
               Defendants 
 

 
 

DOE NO. 22’S MOTION 
TO QUASH SUBPOENA AND TO SEVER CLAIMS 

 
Doe No. 22 moves to quash the subpoena issued to Comcast to obtain John Doe 

No. 22’s identity, and to sever John Doe No. 22 from this action.  

I. INTRODUCTION 

  Pornographers like the Plaintiff have filed nearly a quarter of a million claims 

virtually identical to this one in the last few years, with resulting subpoenas.  Not 

surprisingly, the grounds for and against quashing these subpoenas have been explored 

exhaustively.  Rather than repeat arguments that have presented in this case and pending 

related cases, John Doe No. 22 incorporates the arguments for quashing and severing in 

the following memoranda of other Defendants: a) Third Degree Films, Inc. v. Does 1-80, 

1:12-cv-10535-WGY, Document 12, Consolidated Motion and Memorandum to Quash 

Subpoena Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 45 or in the Alternative to Sever Pursuant to Fed. R. 

Civ. P. 21; b) Patrick Collins, Inc. v. Does 1-79, 1:12-cv-10532-GAO, Document 17 
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(Doe 21’s Consolidated Motion & Memorandum to Quash Subpoena Pursuant to Fed. R. 

Civ. P. 45 or in the Alternative to Sever Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 21). 

II. ARGUMENT 

  In addition to the grounds stated in other pending motions cited above, John Doe 

No. 22 relies on the following: 

A. The Plaintiff and Plaintiff’s Counsel Have Engaged in Bad Faith 
Pleading 

 
Plaintiff’s counsel is one of five law firms listed as “partners” of the Copyright 

Enforcement Group (“CEG”), which offers pornographers a fully developed system for 

profiting from unlawful downloading of the pornographers’ copyrighted material. As 

stated in the “Recoup Revenue from Digital Piracy” section of CEG’s website, 

pornographers can: 

Establish a new revenue source while offering infringers multiple 
settlement options with our Monetization service. Settlement offers are 
fully customizable and can include opportunities such as hard goods, 
subscriptions, licensing arrangements, straight settlements or any other 
offering of your choice. Your options are limitless. 
 
Content owners can choose a soft fan-friendly marketing based approach, 
a stringent graduated response system, models that include litigation, 
leveraging CEG's vast intellectual property attorney network or anything 
in-between. 
 
Our fully customizable Monetization service solution is available at no 
cost to content owners. Contact us for additional details. 

 
http://www.ceg-intl.com/monetization.html 
 
 In addition to these “monetization” services, CEG offers pornographers a list of 

“partner” law firms, one of whom is Plaintiff’s counsel in this case. (http://www.ceg-

intl.com/partners.html.)  CEG is working hard to convince pornographers that there is 

profit in hiring CEG to pursue “pirates,” as illustrated in CEG’s recent rollout of a new 
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service that allows infringers to simply log onto CEG’s website and pay to settle 

infringement claims. An April 12 CEG press release states in part: 

Copyright Enforcement Group (CEG) today announced their new and 
improved settlement portal, copyrightsettlements.com. 
 
Copyrightsettlements.com provides a secure, trusted, convenient, and easy 
way to those who have infringed on content owners’ copyrighted material 
to settle online. Copyrightsettlements.com has the advanced ability to 
offer multiple settlements of the content owners’ choosing. 
 
At the election of the content owner, various settlement options are 
available and include monetary, goods (such as DVDs or products), 
services, subscriptions, as well as any other option the content owner may 
choose. Using settlement options other than monetary settlements alone 
give the content owner the opportunity to turn infringers into paying 
customers who legally consume copyrighted content. 

 
http://www.prweb.com/releases/2012/4/prweb9389919.htm  

Over the last few years, CEG and its “partner” law firms have sued thousands of 

Internet subscribers for copyright infringement, even though the Plaintiff copyright 

holders, CEG and “partner” counsel concede that 30% of the Defendants they name were 

not involved in the alleged downloading.  Other CEG “partner” counsel have disclosed in 

federal court that they believe that “30% of the names turned over by ISPs are not those 

of individuals who actually downloaded or shared copyrighted material.” Digital Sin, Inc. 

v. Does 1-176, 279 F.R.D. 239 (S.D.N.Y. 2012).  

  Naming the subscribers as Defendants – rather than seeking information from the 

subscribers about the actual downloaders – violates Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule 11’s requirement 

that “the factual contentions [i.e., that the twenty-nine Defendants each were personally 

involved in downloading copyrighted material] have evidentiary support . . .” An 

attorney’s signature on a motion or pleading means “that to the best of his or her 

knowledge, information, and belief there is good ground to support the contentions in the 
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document, both in terms of what the law is or should be and in terms of the evidentiary 

support for the allegations, and that he or she is acting without an improper motivation.” 

The Elements of the Standard of Certification, 5A Fed. Prac. & Proc. Civ. § 1335 (3d ed.) 

However, when this action was filed, the Copyright Enforcement Group and the Plaintiff 

were just as aware as Plaintiff’s counsel that nearly one-third of the Defendants they sued 

did not download “Anal Cum Swappers 2.”   

 Plaintiff’s counsel Marvin Cable has admitted in one of the dozens of recent, 

virtually identical lawsuits he has filed on behalf of pornographers in the District of 

Massachusetts that: 

Additionally, the Internet Subscriber is not always the proper defendant in 
actions such as this. Plaintiff therefore seeks to depose and/or issue 
interrogatories to the Internet Subscriber identified by each ISP in order to 
determine whether or not he or she are the proper defendant in this action. 

Third Degree Films, Inc. v. Does 1-80, U.S.D.C. D. Mass. 1:12-cv-10535-WGY, 
Document 6, MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFF’S EMERGENCY EX-
PARTE MOTION FOR EARLY DISCOVERY, p. 6 (emphasis added). 

 Mr. Cable alleges that each defendant has engaged in “willful” and “intentional” 

violation of the plaintiff’s copyright. (Complaint, ¶ 23.) Yet his own memoranda in these 

cases confirm that he has no idea whether the internet subscribers he has joined as 

defendants played any role in downloading copyrighted material: 

3. Plaintiff additionally requests permission to engage in limited discovery by 
issuing interrogatories and/or deposing the individuals identified by the ISPs in 
order to determine whether or not the Internet Subscriber is the proper 
defendant in this action. 

Third Degree Films, Inc. v. Does 1-80, U.S.D.C. D. Mass. 1:12-cv-10535-WGY, 
Document 6, MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFF’S EMERGENCY EX-
PARTE MOTION FOR EARLY DISCOVERY, p. 8 (emphasis added). 
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  A Plaintiff who brings mass lawsuits, knowing that three out of every ten 

defendants are innocent, is acting in bad faith, and counsel who sign the mass Complaints 

(or move for expedited discovery of the defendants’ names) are violating Rule 11 and 

subjecting themselves to sanctions under that rule and 28 U.S.C. § 1927.  Cf. Chambers 

v. NASCO, Inc., 501 U.S. 32, 111 S. Ct. 2123, 115 L. Ed. 2d 27 (1991); Cruz v. Savage, 

896 F.2d 626, 631 (1st Cir. 1990); Pan Am. Grain Mfg. Co., Inc. v. Puerto Rico Ports 

Auth., 225 F.3d 108, 116 (1st Cir. 2002); In re Johnson, 186 F. App'x 390, 393-95 (4th 

Cir. 2006). 

  Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 11(c) and § 1927, the Defendant must proceed 

separately against Plaintiff’s counsel with a motion seeking sanctions.  But the Plaintiff, 

its counsel and CEF (the instigator of these mass lawsuits) had no good faith basis for 

believing that any more 70%--i.e., fifteen of the twenty-two Defendants-- downloaded the 

Plaintiff’s movie. Further, they had no means of identifying which Defendants were 

likely to be the downloaders.  Their abusive decision to allege that all twenty-nine were 

downloaders, and to subpoena their names, is powerful support for an order quashing the 

subpoena for the subscribers’ names, and severing the claims against Doe No. 22. 

Chambers v. NASCO, Inc., 501 U.S. 32, 111 S. Ct. 2123, 115 L. Ed. 2d 27 (1991). 
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B. Naming Subscribers As Defendants and Subpoenaing Their Identities 
Without Any Factual Basis Is An Abuse of Process 

 
Mass litigation brought by pornographers (and their attorneys, typically working 

on a contingent fee basis) is designed to intimidate innocent subscribers and force them to 

settle – regardless of liability – simply to avoid a public accusation that they illegally 

downloaded “Anal Cum Swappers 2.”  The Plaintiffs and their attorneys are knowingly 

attempting to force settlement from all named Defendants without any discovery or 

assessment of the merits, even though the Plaintiffs and counsel know that 30% of the 

Defendants did not violate Plaintiff’s copyright.1 This intentional scheme to intimidate 

innocent subscribers into settling groundless claims is an abuse of process. See, e.g., 

Ladd v. Polidoro, 424 Mass. 196, 675 N.E.2d 382 (1997).  The Plaintiff’s goal is not to 

identify the illegal downloaders.  Rather, its goal is to scare subscribers, nearly a third of 

whom (as the Plaintiff knows) are not illegal downloaders, into paying hush money and 

preventing disclosure of their identities to the Plaintiff.  This purpose – to use the John 

Doe Complaint and expedited discovery to achieve a collateral, extortionate result, rather 

than the legitimate goal of learning the true identity of the downloaders – is 

“unreasonable and oppressive,” a pre-1991 standard now incorporated into the current 

requirement that a subpoena must be quashed if it “subjects a person to undue burden.” 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 45(c)(3)(A)(iv): 

                                                 
1 Plaintiff’s counsel, Marvin Cable, a CEG “Partner,” has filed over thirty essentially identical 
pornography infringement cases in the District of Massachusetts in the last three months, naming 
over 1300 individual subscribers as Defendants.  Applying the 30% statistical measure disclosed 
by his “partner” CEG firm, this means that Mr. Cable has brought suit against roughly 400 
innocent individuals, knowing that he had no evidentiary support for alleging that they were 
illegal downloaders.  It will be interesting to learn how much revenue Mr. Cable, CEG and 
Discount Video have generated by naming these innocent subscribers as Defendants. 
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The words “undue burden” in Rule 45(c)(3)(A)(iv) replace the traditional 
language of “unreasonable and oppressive,” however, this change in the 
language for quashing a subpoena is semantic only, and was not intended 
to change existing law.  
 

Quashing or Modifying a Subpoena, 9A Fed. Prac. & Proc. Civ. § 2463.1 (3d ed.).  

  The Court should quash the subpoena, which is being used to oppress innocent 

ISP subscribers who cannot defend themselves on the merits without publicly linking 

their names to illegal trafficking in pornography. 

C. The Plaintiff’s Claim of Concerted Action As Justification for Joinder 
Is Groundless  

 
The Plaintiff cannot establish that the twenty-nine alleged copyright violations 

arose out of “the same transaction or occurrence, or series of transactions and 

occurrences.” (Fed. R. Civ. P. 20(a).)  At best, the Plaintiff can show that twenty-nine 

individuals at different times used BitTorrent protocols to download and assemble pieces 

of a particular movie file between January 5 and March 26.  There is no allegation – and 

could not be, judging by the Declaration of CEF “Chief Technology Officer” Jon Nicolini 

that explains how the Defendants’ IP addresses were gathered – that any of the pieces of 

the movie file allegedly downloaded and reassembled by twenty-nine Massachusetts 

Defendants came from any of the other Massachusetts Defendants. The Plaintiff falsely 

alleges that joinder is appropriate because the Defendants all downloaded the same file 

“within a limited period of time” (Complaint, ¶ 5).  However, Exhibit A to the Complaint 

shows that the downloads occurred over a span of nearly eleven weeks, and no other 

Defendant downloaded or uploaded “Anal Cum Swappers 2” the same day as Doe 22. 

The relevant question is whether any of the defendants engaged in “concerted activity” 

by sharing parts of the same file with each other. The plaintiff has no evidence to suggest 
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that this occurred.  Since the investigation upon which the Complaint is based cannot 

support any claim of “concerted activity” by the twenty-nine Defendants, joinder is 

improper under Fed. R. Civ. P. 20(a).  The Court should, therefore, sever the claims 

against Doe No. 22. 

III. CONCLUSION 

WHEREFORE, John Doe No. 22 moves to quash the subpoena issued to Comcast 

to obtain John Doe No. 22’s identity, and to sever John Doe No. 22 from this action.  

Respectfully submitted, 
The Defendant, 
John Doe No. 22, 
 
 
/s/ Samuel Perkins       

    Samuel Perkins, BBO# 542396 
    Thomas R. Donohue, BBO# 643483 
    Gregor A. Pagnini, BBO# 667659 

BRODY, HARDOON, PERKINS & KESTEN, LLP 
One Exeter Plaza 
Boston, MA 02116 
(617) 880-7100 
sperkins@bhpklaw.com 
tdonohue@bhpklaw.com 
gpagnini@bhpklaw.com  

 
DATED: July 9, 2012 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 
 I hereby certify that on July 9, 2012, the foregoing document, filed through the 
ECF system, will be sent electronically to the registered participants as identified on the 
Notice of Electronic Filing, and paper copies will be served via first-class mail to those 
indicated as non-registered participants. 
 
 
    /s/ Samuel Perkins      
    Samuel Perkins, BBO# 542396 
 
DATED: July 9, 2012 
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO LOCAL RULE 7.1(A)(2) 

 I hereby certify that I attempted to confer with the Plaintiff’s attorney on July 9, 

2012 by telephone and by email in a good faith attempt to resolve or narrow the issues 

raised in this motion, but that we have been unable to do so. 

    /s/ Samuel Perkins      
    Samuel Perkins, BBO# 542396 
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